© Adis International Limited, All rights reserved.

The Clinical and Cost Considerations of Bisphosphonates in Preventing Bone Complications in Patients with Metastatic Breast Cancer or Multiple Myeloma

Eugene V. McCloskey, ¹ Julian F. Guest² and John A. Kanis¹

- 1 WHO Collaborating Centre for Metabolic Bone Diseases, University of Sheffield Medical School, Sheffield, England
- 2 Catalyst Health Economics Consultants Ltd, Pinner, Middlesex, England

Contents

Abstract
1. The Burden of Skeletal Complications in Malignancy
2. Rationale for Use of Bisphosphonates
3. Long Term Clinical Studies with Bisphosphonates
3.1 Myeloma
3.2 Advanced Breast Cancer
4. Efficacy of Bisphosphonates in Reducing Skeletal Complications
4.1 Prevention of Hypercalcaemia
4.2 Pathological Fracture
4.2.1 Nonvertebral Fracture
4.2.2 Vertebral Fracture
4.2.3 Bone Pain
4.2.4 Survival
5. Costs of Long Term Bisphosphonate Therapy in Malignancy
6. When to Introduce and Discontinue Therapy
7. Dose, Safety and Tolerability
7.1 Pamidronate
7.2 Clodronate
8. The Future: Prevention of Skeletal Metastases
9. Conclusion

Abstract

The bisphosphonates are potent inhibitors of osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and are now the treatment of choice for the management of hypercalcaemia of malignancy. The incidences of hypercalcaemia and other skeletal complications (bone pain, pathological fracture) remain high despite apparent responses to systemic therapy, with particularly high event rates in women with advanced skeletal metastases of breast cancer. This review focuses on studies addressing

the long-term efficacy of bisphosphonates to reduce skeletal complications in breast cancer (5 studies) and multiple myeloma (4 studies), with particular reference to controlled studies of sufficient magnitude and duration to allow confidence in the estimation of efficacy.

Bearing in mind the limitations of differences in trial design and the lack of direct studies comparing drugs, adequate exposure to a bisphosphonate reduces the incidence of skeletal complication by 30 to 40% in both breast cancer and multiple myeloma. Oral clondronate and intravenous pamidronate have similar efficacy in both diseases, but the duration of efficacy may differ between drugs. Both agents have shown intriguing survival benefits in subgroups of patients.

The numbers needed to treat (NNT) to prevent a skeletal complication during one year are lowest in metastatic skeletal disease in breast cancer (NNT < 8) but also compare very favourably with other disease for patients with recurrent non-skeletal breast cancer or multiple myeloma (NNTs 7 to 31 depending on the complication to be prevented). Treatment costs of both breast cancer and multiple myloma are driven by inpatient and outpatient hospital visits so that bisphosphonate regimens should be developed that reduce both.

Further research is required to determine if subgroups of patients can be better identified that will derive particular benefit, or perhaps no benefit at all, from bisphosphonate therapy. It is not known whether more potent bisphosphonates will deliver greater clinical efficacy in the future.

Bone destruction and its clinical sequelae are a significant cause of morbidity in patients with cancer. Furthermore, despite progress in anti-tumour therapy and the use of more aggressive regimens, the incidence of skeletal disease remains high and, in contrast with visceral metastases, is frequently associated with prolonged survival. Bone pain is observed in both osteosclerotic and osteolytic disease, but hypercalcaemia and pathological fracture are most frequently associated with osteolysis. Regardless of the tumour type, there is compelling evidence that this bone destruction is mediated by normal osteoclasts (bone-resorbing cells) stimulated by factors produced by the tumour or by stromal cells in response to the presence of tumour. [1,2]

The bisphosphonates are potent inhibitors of osteoclast-mediated bone resorption (for review, see Fleisch^[3,4]). At least 10 bisphosphonates are currently available or in development. The newer bisphosphonates have markedly higher potency than earlier agents but, currently, there are no data to suggest that they will differ in their ultimate therapeutic effect. The greatest experience in malignancy-associated bone disease has been gained

with the bisphosphonates, etidronate, clodronate, ibandronate and pamidronate.

These agents are now the treatment of choice for the management of hypercalcaemia of malignancy. Their efficacy in this setting has prompted studies to examine their ability to decrease the incidence of skeletal complications in malignancies, particularly breast cancer and multiple myeloma. This review focuses on studies addressing the long term efficacy of bisphosphonates in breast cancer and multiple myeloma, with particular reference to controlled studies of sufficient magnitude and duration to allow confidence in the estimation of efficacy.

1. The Burden of Skeletal Complications in Malignancy

Tumours commonly associated with the development of skeletal metastases are shown in table I. Breast cancer, prostate cancer and multiple myeloma account for the majority of cases but this varies from country to country. Approximately 30 000 new cases of breast cancer are diagnosed each year in the UK. Of those developing recurrent disease, 30% will develop their first metastases in

bone and skeletal disease will be present in approximately 80% at death. Women with predominantly skeletal disease survive significantly longer than those with visceral disease (particularly liver and CNS metastases). A similar burden of disease is observed in prostate cancer in men. Multiple myeloma affects approximately 3000 new patients each year in the UK with skeletal destruction being a prominent feature at the time of diagnosis.^[6]

The most common skeletal complications of neoplasia are hypercalcaemia, bone pain and fractures at both axial and appendicular sites. In contrast with studies documenting the prevalence of skeletal complications in malignancy, there are few data from prospective studies describing the incidence of such complications during the course of the disease. Some estimate of the incidence can be derived from the control arms of placebo-controlled studies of bisphosphonates in myeloma and breast cancer metastatic to bone (table II).^[7-17] There are obvious difficulties in extrapolating such data to the routine clinical setting since selection criteria for studies can exclude patients with severe or mild disease, leading, to under- or over-esof the incidence, respectively. timation Furthermore, the methods of reporting incidence are not uniform across the studies. Bearing these limitations in mind, the incidence of skeletal complications is high despite apparent responses to systemic therapy (table II). The incidence and event rates are particularly high in women with advanced skeletal metastases in breast cancer, where approximately 25 to 40% of patients will require radiotherapy for bone pain, 25 to 50% will

sustain incident vertebral fractures and a similar proportion may sustain nonvertebral fractures.

Hypercalcaemia is also common, occurring in approximately 30% of patients annually, although the incidence of severe hypercalcaemia (serum calcium adjusted for albumin >3.00 mmol/L) is somewhat lower (approximately 10%). However, it should be noted that the incidence of hypercalcaemia and pathological vertebral fracture is also substantial in women with recurrence apparently limited to soft tissue and visceral sites.

The incidence of complications in myeloma appears to be lower than in patients with skeletal disease in breast cancer but new vertebral fractures occur in about 15 to 30% of patients annually and peripheral fractures occur in approximately 10%.

Multiple complications within an individual are common so that estimates based on events per 100 patient years (table II) exceed estimates of incidence computed as the proportion of patients with each event. The majority of studies that have reported event rates and the number of patients affected, show that the event rates are usually 2- to 3-fold higher (table II).

2. Rationale for Use of Bisphosphonates

Skeletal destruction in osteolysis is mediated by a disruption of normal bone remodelling which accounts for much (>95%) of normal skeletal turnover. Since bone remodelling is a surface-based event, remodelling activity is greater on cancellous than on cortical surfaces. Remodelling of cancellous bone is largely mediated by the activity of bone resorbing cells (osteoclasts) and bone form-

Table I. Features of malignancies affecting the skeleton in the UK

Type of malignancy	New cases per year in UK ^[5]	Proportion developing skeletal metastases (%)	Median survival ^a (months)
Breast	31 843	80	21
Prostate 15 705 Thyroid 956		85	30
		50	_
Kidney	4464	30	_
Lung	37 312	44	4
Multiple myeloma	2860	_	33

a From development of bone metastases.

indicates data not available.

Table II. Estimated incidences of skeletal complications in patients with multiple myeloma and advanced breast cancer. Data derived from placebo arms of double-blind, controlled trials

Reference	Malignancy	Number of patients	Population		Percentage of patients developing complication annually (event rate/100 patient-years)				
					pain ^a	hyper- calcaemia	fracture		
							any	vertebral	nonvertebral
Belch et al. ^[7]	Myeloma	173	At first treatment	44	- (-)	5 (–) ^b	- (-)	- (-)	8 (–)
Lahtinen et al. ^[8]	Myeloma	336	At first treatment	24	- (-)	- (-)	- (-)	20 (–) ^c	12 (–)
Brincker et al. ^[9]	Myeloma	300	At first treatment	18	- (26)	- (13) ^d	- (59)	- (38) ^c	- (21)
Berenson et al.[10,11]	Myeloma	392	On chemotherapy	18	24 (–)	5 (–) ^b	21 (–)	15 (–)	6 (–)
McCloskey et al. [6]	Myeloma	536	At first treatment	31	-	3 (5) ^b	- (39)	31 (35) ^e	3 (4)
Paterson et al.[12]	Breast	173	Bone metastases	14	41 (89)	30 (52)	- (164)	50 (124) ^e	23 (40)
Kanis et al. ^[13]	Breast	133	Non-bone metastases	20	12 (19)	8 (12)	- (67)	17 (61) ^e	5 (6)
Hortobagyi et al. ^[14,15]	Breast	382	Bone metastases	10	23 (84)	8 (19) ^b	25 (174)	25 (74) ^e	39 (100)
Theriault et al.[16]	Breast	371	Bone metastases	16	28 (90)	6 (17) ^b	44 (210)	22 (80) ^e	31 (140)
Hultborn et al.[17]	Breast	404	Bone metastases	12	28 (40)	9 (9) ^f	-	-	16 ^g (20)

a Pain recorded as number of radiotherapy episodes.

ing cells (osteoblasts). In health, the activity of these 2 cell types are closely linked so that resorption is followed by formation (the process termed 'coupling') and the amount of bone resorbed is replaced by an equal amount of newly formed bone (the process termed 'balance').

In tumour-associated bone disease, the most frequent disturbances include increases in the rate of turnover, loss of coupling, and an imbalance between resorption and formation. Osteolysis in breast cancer is mediated by increased activity of osteoclasts.^[1] There are several candidates for osteoclast activation in breast cancer in addition to the estrogen deficiency induced by chemotherapy, tamoxifen or ovarian ablation. Approximately one-third

of women with breast cancer have evidence for parathyroid-like activity^[18] related to the expression by tumour tissue of parathyroid hormonerelated protein and its endocrine secretion.

Increased osteoclast activity is observed in close proximity to myeloma cells [19-21] and appears to be correlated with the tumour cell burden. [21] Recent evidence suggests that at least 3 cytokines are implicated in the increased osteoclastic activity of myelomatosis, including tumour necrosis factor- β , interleukin (IL)-1 and IL-6. [2,22-25] It is important to realise that cytokines and growth factors released during increased bone turnover may also promote myeloma cell growth and proliferation. [2] The effect of corticosteroids to reduce the synthesis

b Serum calcium levels >3.00 mmol/L.

c Subjective radiological reading.

d Serum calcium levels >2.75 mmol/L.

e Using vertebral morphometry (but different criteria).

f Requiring treatment (level not defined).

g Pelvis and long bones only.

⁻ indicates not recorded.

of these cytokines may explain their value in the treatment of myeloma. [26-28]

In addition, bone is lost because of an imbalance within each remodelling sequence, usually as a result of a decreased amount of new bone formed within erosion cavities combined with an increase in resorption depth. Where bone turnover is additionally accelerated, skeletal losses are amplified. At cancellous sites, the increased depth of erosion transects trabecular plates and rods of bone, thus removing the surface on which new bone formation can occur ('uncoupling'). In addition, the activity of osteoblasts may be reduced, an effect seen frequently in myeloma^[19,21] where possible mechanisms include the production of inhibitory factors by myeloma cells.[29,30] Similar relative suppression of osteoblasts has also been described in breast cancer.[31,32]

In addition to malignancy-induced bone loss, women with breast cancer are particularly vulnerable to osteoporosis. At the time of first diagnosis the prevalence of osteoporotic fractures in women with breast cancer approximates that of an age- and gender-matched control population.[33,34] Thereafter, the incidence of vertebral fractures is more than 3-fold higher than in age-matched controls using morphometric criteria to define vertebral fracture[33] and more than 2-fold higher based on radiologists' reports.[34] Premenopausal women who receive adjuvant treatment are at special risk because of early menopause^[35-39] or adjuvant ovarian ablation. [40] Tamoxifen, although preventing bone loss in postmenopausal women, [41,42] appears to cause bone loss in premenopausal women, presumably by competitive agonist activity at the estrogen receptor.[37] Moreover, in postmenopausal women fracture risk may even increase after stopping adjuvant endocrine treatment.^[43] The effects of treatment of myeloma on bone mass have not received as much attention but beneficial effects have been observed particularly at axial sites.[44]

Irrespective of whether focal or generalised osteolysis occurs, the pathogenesis for increased bone resorption involves disturbances in the normal remodelling mechanisms. It is of relevance that the disruptions induced in remodelling are mediated largely, if not exclusively, by authentic bone cells rather than tumour cells themselves.

3. Long Term Clinical Studies with Bisphosphonates

Although a large number of studies have examined the effects of bisphosphonates in neoplastic bone disease, many have only involved small numbers of patients or examined short term efficacy. and others have been nonblind, uncontrolled studies. Recently, several controlled studies have addressed the use of bisphosphonates early in the course of breast cancer to try to reduce the development of bone metastases but they have not been included in this review of efficacy, which has been restricted to use in patients with more advanced disease. For the purposes of this review, we have focused on randomised, placebo-controlled studies with total sample sizes of more than 100 patients followed for at least 6 months. These can be divided into studies of multiple myeloma (n = 4) and studies in women with metastatic breast cancer (n = 5). The single large double-blind, placebo-controlled study of etidronate in myeloma has not been included as etidronate is not licensed for long term use in malignancy.[7] The studies are reviewed briefly in this section.

3.1 Myeloma

The study by Lahtinen et al.^[8] evaluated the efficacy of oral clodronate 2400 mg/day over a 2-year period in 336 patients with stage I to III multiple myeloma. Systemic therapy comprised melphalan and prednisolone with nonresponders subsequently receiving treatment with the MOCCA regimen [methyl] prednisone, vincristine, cyclophosphamide, melphalan and lomustine (CCNU)]. Study medication was given as 800mg (2 capsules) 3 times daily and commenced 4 weeks after the first course of melphalan-prednisolone.

Clodronate treatment was associated with a significant 50% reduction in radiographic progression of osteolytic disease (12 vs 24% of patients, p = 0.026), a 25% reduction in the incidence of

vertebral fracture (30 vs 40%, nonsignificant). The proportion of patients becoming pain-free was higher in the clodronate group (30 vs 15%) but this was not statistically significant from placebo. The incidence of nonvertebral fractures was similar in both groups. The number of deaths was lower during clodronate treatment (54 vs 68) but this was also not statistically significant.

In the study by Berenson et al., [10,11] 392 patients were randomised to receive either placebo or pamidronate 90mg intravenously administered at 4-week intervals over a total follow-up of 21 cycles of treatment. Inclusion criteria comprised patients with stage III multiple myeloma, an unchanged chemotherapy regimen for at least 2 months and an estimated life expectancy of at least 9 months. Patients with recent skeletal complications or renal impairment were excluded. Eligible patients were stratified according to their systemic therapy with stratum 1 consisting of those on initial treatment or with disease controlled by a single drug regimen and stratum 2 comprising those with second-line or subsequent chemotherapy regimens.

Treatment over the first 9 cycles of treatment was associated with a marked reduction (44%) in the incidence of pathological fracture (vertebral and nonvertebral sites), a 36% reduction in radiotherapy requirements to bone but no significant effect on the incidence of severe hypercalcaemia.^[11] The reduction in fracture risk was significant in stratum 1 but a trend was observed in patients with more advanced disease. The reduction in radiotherapy requirement was confined to those with more advanced disease (stratum 2).

In contrast, the incidence of pathological fracture and skeletal radiotherapy was similar or greater in the pamidronate group during a further 12 cycles of treatment. [10] For example, in the Kaplan-Meier estimates analysis, the proportion of patients with any skeletal event increased by 17% between 12 and 21 cycles (33 to 50%) in the pamidronate group compared with an increase of 10% (48 to 58%) in the placebo group. [10] Indeed, there is a progressive waning in the apparent efficacy of pamidronate as judged by the relative risks

of events in each of the 3-month periods from 9 months onwards.^[45] Thus, while the proportion of patients with any skeletal complication remained lower in the stratum 1 patients (37 vs 47%), the difference between treatments was no longer significant. In stratum 2, only the requirement for radiotherapy remained significantly lower after 21 cycles but most of this reduction had occurred in the first 9 cycles of treatment. Interestingly, survival in the stratum 2 patients was significantly increased in the pamidronate group [median 21 vs 14 months, p = 0.041 adjusted for baseline serum β 2microglobulin levels and ECOG (European Cooperative Oncologic Group) performance status]. New or worsening anaemia was noted more frequently in pamidronate-treated patients during the last 12 cycles of therapy (38 vs 25%, p = 0.017).

McCloskey et al. [6] studied a total of 536 patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma randomised to receive placebo or clodronate 1600 mg/day in addition to systemic chemotherapy [largely ABCM regimen (doxorubicin, carmustine {BCNU}, cyclophosphamide, melphalan) with or without prednisolone]. Patients over 75 years and those who had received previous chemotherapy were excluded. Treatment with clodronate began 2 to 6 weeks after chemotherapy and was continued indefinitely or until the patient showed evidence of progressive osteolytic lesions or hypercalcaemia requiring treatment other than fluid replacement.

Treatment with clodronate was associated with a 50% decrease in the proportion of patients with severe hypercalcaemia (5.1 vs 10.1%, p = 0.064) and a similar reduction in reported nonvertebral fractures (6.8 vs 13.2%, p = 0.036). Fewer patients receiving clodronate sustained incident vertebral fractures (38 vs 55%, p = 0.012) and patients also lost less height over 3 years compared with those receiving placebo (2.0 \pm 0.7 vs 3.4 \pm 0.7cm, p = 0.011). The incidence of pathological fracture and hypercalcaemia were consistently lower in the clodronate groups throughout 4 years of follow-up. The frequencies of back pain and poor performance status were significantly lower at relapse in clodronate than in placebo-treated patients (10.9 vs

19.9%, p < 0.05, and 18.3 vs 30.5%, p < 0.025, respectively). There was no difference in survival between the clodronate- and placebo-treated patients. However, in a *post hoc* subgroup analysis, patients without vertebral fracture at entry, clodronate was associated with increased survival (median survival 1362 vs 1094 days, p < 0.05).

In the study by Brincker et al., [9] 300 patients with newly diagnosed, previously untreated multiple myeloma were randomised to receive placebo or oral pamidronate 300 mg/day (2 divided doses of 150mg). Patients were excluded if they had a poor prognosis (survival expected to be <3 months), active peptic ulceration or renal impairment. Systemic treatment consisted mainly of melphalan and prednisolone with a subset of patients also receiving interferonα-2b. Study treatment started after the first course of chemotherapy and the median duration of treatment was 18 months.

Treatment with pamidronate was associated with a significant reduction in bone pain (0.58 vs 0.80 mean events/year, p = 0.04) and a significant prolongation of the time to first severe bone pain $(1003 \ vs \ 565 \ days, p = 0.005)$ as judged by the investigators. However, patients' perceptions of pain and analgesic consumption were similar in the 2 treatment groups. The number of pathological fractures and requirement for surgery were lower in the pamidronate-treated patients, but the differences were not statistically significant. Despite a reported nonsignificant difference in the incidence of vertebral collapses (0.29 vs 0.38 mean events/ year), height loss was noted to be significantly less in the pamidronate group (1.5 vs 3cm, p = 0.02). Survival was similar in patients receiving pamidronate or placebo.

3.2 Advanced Breast Cancer

Paterson et al.^[12] studied 173 women with bone metastases randomised to receive clodronate 1600 mg/day or an identical placebo. The median time from the onset of distant metastases to study entry was approximately 1 year and systemic endocrine or chemotherapy were similar in both groups. Placebo-treated patients were more likely to have

metastatic disease confined to bone only at entry, but this did not alter the subsequent incidence of events or survival.

Clodronate significantly reduced the incidence of hypercalcaemia (28 vs 52 events/100 patient years, p < 0.01) and vertebral fractures (84 vs 124 events/100 patient years, p < 0.025). The requirement for skeletal radiotherapy was reduced but not statistically significant with the benefit being most marked at axial sites. There was no difference in the incidence of nonvertebral fractures but the event rate was low. Overall, there was a 27% decrease in the number of morbid skeletal events (219 vs 305 events/100 patient years).

In the study by Hortobagyi et al., [14,15] 382 women with stage IV cancer and at least 1 predominantly lytic metastasis at least 1cm in diameter were included in the study. All patients were receiving chemotherapy at entry, had an estimated life expectancy greater than 9 months and had not sustained any skeletal events in the 2 weeks before study entry. Patients received either placebo or pamidronate 90mg intravenously at 4-week intervals and treatment was continued for up to 2 years.

In the first year of treatment,^[14] pamidronate reduced the incidence of nonvertebral fractures (20 vs 30%, p = 0.02), radiotherapy to bone (19 vs 33%, p = 0.002), hypercalcaemia (6 vs 12%, p = 0.03) and the requirement for surgery (4 vs 10%, p = 0.02). There was no apparent effect on the proportion of patients sustaining vertebral fractures (23 vs 19%, p = 0.37) but the time to first skeletal complication was longer in the pamidronate group.

During the second year of treatment,^[15] the incidence of nonvertebral fracture and surgery remained lower in the pamidronate-treated patients. In contrast, the incidences of hypercalcaemia, radiotherapy to bone and vertebral fracture derived from the Kaplan-Meier estimates between 15 and 24 months were similar or higher in the pamidronate group than with placebo (4 *vs* 3% for hypercalcaemia, 17 *vs* 13% for vertebral fracture and 14 *vs* 7% for radiotherapy to bone).^[15] The overall incidence remained lower in the pamidronate

group because of the marked effect in the first year of treatment.

The primary aim of the double-blind study by Kanis et al.^[13] was to examine the effect of oral clodronate 1600 mg/day on the incidence of skeletal metastases. 133 women with recurrent breast cancer but no radiographic or scintigraphic evidence of skeletal metastases were studied for up to 3 years.

The number of skeletal complications was relatively low, but clodronate was associated with a significant reduction in the event rate (71 vs 97 events/100 patient years, p < 0.01). Trends for reductions in the incidence of all individual skeletal complications (hypercalcaemia, vertebral fracture, nonvertebral fractures and radiotherapy to bone) were reported in the clodronate group. More importantly, treatment with clodronate was associated with a nonsignificant reduction in patients developing skeletal metastases (23 vs 28%) but the number of metastases was markedly reduced (32 vs 63, p < 0.005). There was no difference in survival between the treatment groups.

In the study by Theriault et al., [16] 371 women with stage IV cancer and at least 1 predominantly lytic metastasis at least 1cm in diameter were included. All patients were receiving hormonal therapy at entry, had an estimated life expectancy greater than 9 months and had not sustained any skeletal events in the 2 weeks before study entry. Patients received either placebo or pamidronate 90mg intravenously at 3- to 4-week intervals and treatment was continued for up to 2 years.

In the first year of treatment, pamidronate reduced the incidence of radiation to bone (p = 0.005). A trend for reduction was observed in pathological fractures (p = 0.108), largely mediated by a nonsignificant reduction in nonvertebral fractures. There was no significant effect on the proportion of patients sustaining vertebral fractures, spinal cord compression, hypercalcaemia or surgery to bone. The time to first skeletal complication was longer ($10.4 \ vs \ 6.9 \ months$, p = 0.049) in the pamidronate group.

By the end of the second year of treatment, pamidronate treatment was associated with a significantly lower cumulative incidence of hypercalcaemia (4 vs 10%, p = 0.036) with nonsignificant reductions in radiation to bone (31 vs 40%, p = 0.058), nonvertebral fracture (36 vs 40%, p = 0.498) and surgery to bone (7 vs 11%, p = 0.245). The proportion of patients sustaining vertebral fractures or spinal cord compressions were also similar in the 2 groups. It is of interest to note that the differences in incidence rates between the pamidronate and placebo groups that did occur were largely observed in the first 12 cycles of treatment.

404 women with bone metastases (lytic or blastic) in breast cancer were randomised to receive intravenous pamidronate 60mg every 4 weeks (n = 201) or a placebo infusion (n = 203) in the study by Hultborn et al. [17]. All patients were receiving systemic therapies at the discretion of the attending physician and had an estimated life expectancy greater than 3 months. Previous bisphosphonate therapy led to exclusion from the study. Treatment was envisaged for up to 2 years with the median time on allocated treatment being 12 and 11.5 months in the pamidronate and placebo groups, respectively.

Pamidronate use was associated with a significant reduction in the cumulative incidence of all skeletal symptom events (pain increase, hypercalcaemia, fractures and pareses). The time to these events was significantly longer in the pamidronate group (11.8 vs 8.4 months, p = 0.0058). However, only symptoms of skeletal progression (essentially pain, 151 vs 214 events) and hypercalcaemia requiring treatment (5 vs 17 events) were significantly reduced by pamidronate. There was no significant effect on long bone or pelvic fractures (38 vs 39), spinal pareses (5 vs 6), palliative radiotherapy requirements (73 vs 81) or stabilising surgery (13 vs 17). There were no differences in the number of patients requiring changes in anti-tumoral therapies or survival (18.3 months).

4. Efficacy of Bisphosphonates in Reducing Skeletal Complications

It is important to note that to date there have been no direct comparative studies of long term bisphosphonates in malignancy. Differences in patient selection, concomitant therapies and the assessment of outcome complicate any attempt to draw comparisons between the various trials. These limitations need to be borne in mind when the efficacy in each of the clinical trials is expressed in a unified way, e.g. as a percentage reduction in the incidence of skeletal complications.

4.1 Prevention of Hypercalcaemia

The definition of hypercalcaemia has varied between studies, with thresholds for serum calcium levels ranging from 2.6 (adjusted for serum albumin) to 3.0 mmol/L (usually referred to as severe hypercalcaemia). However, mild hypercalcaemia is not always actively treated, so that some studies have utilised the higher threshold (e.g. 3.0 mmol/L), a level at which clinical intervention

(usually rehydration, corticosteroids if appropriate and possible use of bisphosphonates) is required. All but 2 of the 9 placebo-controlled studies have shown marked reductions in the incidence of hypercalcaemia during treatment with a bisphosphonate (table III).

Surprisingly, intravenous pamidronate did not reduce the incidence of hypercalcaemia in patients with multiple myeloma, [10,11] whereas the same regimen or a lower dose effectively reduced the incidence in patients with metastatic breast cancer at least in the first year of therapy. [14,15,17] This may be a chance finding due to a relatively low number of events in the myeloma study. Alternatively, it may indicate that the inhibition of bone resorption by this regimen in myeloma is suboptimal, possibly requiring an increased dose or an increased frequency of administration. It is of interest that the effects of intravenous pamidronate on other skeletal complications appeared to be most marked within the first 9 months of the study. Event rates

Table III. Reduction in skeletal complications of malignancy in double-blind, placebo-controlled studies of clodronate and pamidronate. Values in parentheses show the p-values from the relevant studies

Reference	Tumour	n	Agent	Dose	Population	Estimated reduction in event rate (%)				
						radiotherapy	hyper-	fracture		
							calcaemia	vertebral	nonvertebral	
Lahtinen et al.[8]	Myeloma	336	Clodronate	2400mg	At first treatment	NE (NS)	NR (NS)	-25 (NS)	0 (NS)	
McCloskey et al.[6]	Myeloma	536	Clodronate	1600mg	At first treatment	NE (NS)	-60 (0.06)	-45 (0.001)	-45 (0.025)	
Brincker et al.[9]	Myeloma	300	Pamidronate	300mg	At first treatment	-27 (NS)	-62 (NS)	-24 (NS)	-43 (NS)	
Berenson et al.[10]	Myeloma	392	Pamidronate	90mg 4-weekly	On chemotherapy	-27 (0.06)	+13 (NS)	-41 (0.005)	NE (NS)	
Paterson et al.[12]	Breast	173	Clodronate	1600mg	Bone metastases	-16 (NS)	-46 (0.01)	-32 (0.025)	-20 (NS)	
Kanis et al.[13]	Breast	133	Clodronate	1600mg	Soft tissue metastases	-20 (NS)	-39 (NS)	-22 (0.1)	-75 (0.1)	
Hortobagyi et al. ^[15]	Breast	382	Pamidronate	90mg 4-weekly	Bone metastases	-49 (0.001)	-67 (0.005)	-39	-34 (0.001)	
Theriault et al.[16]	Breast	371	Pamidronate	90mg 3 - /4-weekly	Bone metastases	-45 (0.011)	-65 (0.037)	-23 (0.43)	-36 (0.36)	
Hultborn et al.[17]	Breast	404	Pamidronate	60mg 4-weekly	Bone metastases	-10 (NS)	-71 (<0.05)	NE	−3 (NS) ^a	
Weighted mean reduction in multiple myeloma						– 27	-37	-37	-32	
Weighted mean red	Weighted mean reduction in breast cancer						-63	-30	-28	

a Pelvic and long bone fractures only.

n = number of patients; NE = not evaluable from the data presented; NR = not reported; NS = not statistically significant.

thereafter did not differ between placebo- and pamidronate-treated patients.

Continuous administration of oral bisphosphonate appears to consistently reduce the incidence of hypercalcaemia, although not all studies have had sufficient power to detect this at a statistically significant level (table III). In the myeloma study of Lahtinen et al.,[8] the total number of hypercalcaemic events was not recorded. However, mean serum calcium values were significantly lower in clodronate-treated patients at 1 year (2.40 vs 2.45 $\frac{1}{1}$ mmol/l, p < 0.05) and 2 years (2.43 vs 2.46 mmol/l, p < 0.05) of follow-up. This occurred despite the baseline mean values being higher in the clodronate group (2.66 vs 2.60 mmol/l). The prevalence of hypercalcaemia (serum calcium adjusted for albumin >2.65 mmol/L) was recorded at baseline, after 1 year and at the end of the 2-year follow-up. There was no difference in the prevalence at the earlier time points, but at 2 years hypercalcaemia was 36% lower in patients receiving clodronate 2400 mg/day (4.6 vs 7.2%, nonsignificant).[8]

It is of interest that in an unpublished analysis of compliance from the study of Paterson et al., [12] the effect of partial and full compliance was similar on pathological fracture and radiotherapy requirements, but partially compliant patients had a higher incidence of hypercalcaemia. These observations support the notion that hypercalcaemia may be the first complication to manifest in patients with inadequate suppression of bone resorption.

In summary, adequate exposure to a bisphosphonate appears to reduce the incidence of hypercalcaemia with estimated reductions of 63 and 37% in the number of events in breast cancer and multiple myeloma, respectively (table III).

4.2 Pathological Fracture

The acquisition of data on fractures differs for vertebral and nonvertebral fractures. Whereas most nonvertebral fractures are clinically obvious, vertebral fractures may be difficult to detect. Assessment of the latter can be undertaken by visual assessment of changes in shape between radiographs but vertebral fractures frequently involve subtle

changes. The major limitation of purely visual assessments is that they are very subjective and lead to poor concordance between classifications by different radiologists. For this reason, information on vertebral fractures is increasingly obtained using morphometric evaluations of radiographs.^[46] Such approaches involve the measurement of vertebral heights on lateral spine radiographs and compare vertebral height ratios with appropriate reference data. The attraction of such approaches is that they standardise the definition of vertebral fracture and, by choosing more stringent criteria for deformity, increase the specificity of the evaluations.[47-49] The outcome of differences in detection of vertebral and nonvertebral fracture is that the effects of treatments on each type of fracture are usually reported separately.

4 2 1 Nonvertebral Fracture

Fractures at all sites other than the thoracic and lumbar spine are usually included in the category of nonvertebral fractures. The actual sites of fracture are rarely recorded in published reports and it is therefore not possible to comment on issues such as the method of recording simultaneous multiple fractures (e.g. do multiple rib fractures count as 1 event or more?) and further fracture or re-fracture within a bone. The site of fracture has a significant impact on the patient and healthcare resources.^[50] For example, long bone fractures usually require hospitalisation and surgical fixation^[50] and this has a significant bearing on the costs of therapy. It is usual practice to exclude fractures, particularly long bone fractures, which occur as the result of significant trauma (e.g. road traffic accidents). It should also be noted that the incidence of long bone fractures is relatively low compared with vertebral fracture in both breast cancer and myeloma (table II) so that the sample sizes of most studies are too small to detect significant effects.

Six of the 9 studies highlighted in this review support the conclusion that long term treatment with a bisphosphonate reduces the incidence of nonvertebral fractures. Two studies have shown statistically significant reductions in the proportion of patients sustaining nonvertebral fractures. [6,15]

A second study with clodronate in breast cancer also showed a borderline effect. Nonsignificant decreases were observed in patients with myeloma with oral pamidronate and in patients with breast cancer with oral clodronate. No apparent effect was observed in 2 studies of myeloma and 1 breast cancer study. The reasons for these results are unclear. In addition to the usual possibilities of inadequate dose and poor compliance, the explanation may relate to differences in recording of nonvertebral fractures.

As stated previously, the costs of long bone fractures are greater as they require hospitalisation and surgical fixation. Three studies have reported either a reduction in long bone fractures (82% effect)^[6] or in the requirement for surgery (58 and 55%, respectively).^[9,15] Reductions in appendicular fractures have been reported with bisphosphonates in other diseases, particularly postmenopausal osteoporosis.^[51,52]

4.2.2 Vertebral Fracture

Vertebral fractures are one of the most frequent complications of malignancy (tables II and III). They may result directly from the metastatic process or alternatively reflect the effect of systemic treatment on gonadal function and bone loss.[33,35,37,39] Regardless of the mechanism, bisphosphonate therapy should be expected to decrease the incidence of vertebral fracture. Comparison between the studies in this review is complicated by the lack of uniformity in the method of defining both prevalent and incident vertebral fractures. All evaluable studies demonstrate a 20 to 45% reduction in vertebral fracture event rates and in 3 of the 8 studies the reduction in risk was significant. [6,10,12] In all of the other studies, similar reductions in the incidence of vertebral fractures were observed and the lack of significance may partly relate to the type of analysis undertaken. For example, Lahtinen and colleagues^[8] observed a 25% reduction in patients sustaining vertebral fractures but did not report the total number of fractures in each group. Hortobagyi et al.^[15] reported that intravenous pamidronate had no significant effect on reducing the number of patients reporting fractures but the total numbers of fractures were 39% lower during pamidronate therapy.

It is likely that much of the discrepancy between studies lies in the lack of consensus on the definition of vertebral fracture. This lack of standardisation also raises the question of the clinical relevance of vertebral fractures recorded during clinical trials. There are obvious clinical correlates of vertebral fracture that can be examined but unfortunately have not been reported in the majority of clinical trials. These include back pain and height loss. [49] In women with advanced metastatic breast cancer, the requirement for radiotherapy to the spine is about 2-fold higher than that to the peripheral skeleton and there is a clear association between incident vertebral fractures defined morphometrically and the requirement for spinal radiotherapy.^[12] Therefore, it is likely that the reduction in radiotherapy requirements or back pain reported in most studies is at least partially mediated by a decrease in the incidence of clinically relevant vertebral fractures.

A clear relationship exists between vertebral fractures and height loss with a progressive increase in height loss occurring with increasing numbers of prevalent and/or incident vertebral fractures.^[49] Prevention of clinically relevant vertebral fractures should therefore decrease height loss and this has been demonstrated in myeloma using clodronate 1600 mg/day over 3 to 4 years from initial diagnosis. [6] A reduction in height loss has also been reported during oral pamidronate therapy.^[9] Despite a reported nonsignificant difference in the incidence of vertebral collapses, height loss was noted to be significantly less in the pamidronate group (1.5 vs 3cm, p = 0.02) suggesting problems with the definition of vertebral collapses rather than the efficacy of the drug. There was no difference in reported height loss between etidronate-treated patients and placebo-treated patients in the study by the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group.^[7] The latter study also showed no effect of treatment to reduce deterioration in the vertebral index, a subjective grading system for vertebral deformity.

The conclusion by Brincker and colleagues, [9] reiterated by other authors, that oral pamidronate is ineffective in myeloma is almost certainly incorrect and results from a combination of low event rates (thus low statistical power) and inaccurate assessments of incident vertebral fractures.^[9,53] In summary, a significant reduction of pathological fracture incidence (vertebral and/or nonvertebral fractures) is reported in 5 of the 9 studies in this review. The estimated treatment effects are very similar for both vertebral (30 to 37% reduction) and nonvertebral fractures (28 to 32% reduction) and are also similar in breast cancer and myeloma. The conclusion that long term bisphosphonate therapy can reduce the incidence of vertebral and nonvertebral fractures is supported by the available data.

4.2.3 Bone Pain

Like vertebral fracture, the assessment of bone pain is also fraught with difficulties, particularly in long term studies, and has rarely been performed in an adequate manner. The relationship between reported pain, direct pain assessments and radiotherapy requirements is complex and is illustrated by the observations of Hultborn and colleagues. [17] In their study in patients with metastatic breast cancer, pamidronate use was associated with a highly significant reduction (p = 0.006) in symptoms of skeletal progression, largely reflecting pain, but had no significant effect on the requirement for palliative radiotherapy and no significant reduction in bone pain assessed by visual analogue scale. [17]

The effect of high dose intravenous or intramuscular bisphosphonates to treat bone pain in malignancy in the short term is well documented. [54-58] However, long term intervention studies have demonstrated that the incidence and severity of bone pain can be reduced. In myeloma, for example, the proportion of patients who were pain-free at 24 months of follow-up in the Finnish study increased from 24% at entry to 54% during clodronate therapy (p < 0.001) compared with an increase from 29 to 44% in the placebo group (p < 0.01). [8] However, the difference between the groups was not statistically significant. Similarly, in the Medical Re-

search Council (MRC) VIth Myeloma Trial,^[6] the increased frequencies of back pain and poor performance status associated with disease relapse were significantly lower in clodronate than in placebo-treated patients (10.9 vs 19.9%, p < 0.05, and 18.3 vs 30.5%, p < 0.025, respectively).^[6] Reductions in bone pain and analgesic consumption have also been noted in small double-blind studies and nonblind, controlled studies in myeloma.^[20,59,60] Intermittent intravenous pamidronate has also shown reductions in pain scores at least during the first 9 cycles of treatment.^[11]

In a combined analysis of the studies by Hortobagyi et al.^[14,15] and Theriault et al.^[16] of pamidronate in breast cancer, bone pain was assessed by a pain score that reflected both severity and frequency of pain, and quality of life was measured using the Spitzer Index.^[61] The treatment was associated with a significant reduction in the deterioration of bone pain between the first and last visits for each patient $(0.72 \pm 3.49 \ vs \ 1.65 \pm 3.40 \ in pamidronate and placebo groups, respectively, p < 0.001). The deterioration in quality of life was also less marked in the pamidronate group <math>(-1.80 \pm 2.81 \ vs -2.13 \pm 2.63)$, although this was not statistically significant (p = 0.088).^[61]

Many studies, particularly those in breast cancer, have utilised skeletal radiotherapy requirements as a surrogate for pain assessment (tables II and III). Decreases in radiotherapy requirements have been observed during treatment with oral and intermittent intravenous bisphosphonates. [12,14,15] In myeloma, intermittent pamidronate appears to decrease the requirements for radiotherapy in patients with more advanced disease receiving second-line chemotherapy but had no effect in patients with less advanced disease. [10,11] The latter outcome is similar to that observed in the MRC Myeloma Trial with clodronate where the event rate for radiotherapy was low. [6]

4.2.4 Survival

In breast cancer, liver and CNS metastases exert a greater influence on survival than skeletal metastases, thus perhaps limiting the success of skeletal therapies in improving survival. Theoretical concerns have been raised about the possible detrimental effects of bisphosphonates to increase non-skeletal metastases. Such concerns have arisen from the belief that a metastasis that is prevented from seeding to bone may implant in visceral sites, leading ultimately to a decrease in patient survival. Two studies with newer, highly potent bisphosphonates in an animal model of breast cancer have suggested that such a scenario may be possible. [62,63] However, these findings are not reflected in the available data from human studies.

The majority of studies in this review have either shown a nonsignificant trend towards increased survival or no difference in survival between bisphosphonate- and placebo-treated patients. In the small double-blind, controlled study of Elomaa and colleagues, [64,65] survival was significantly increased during bisphosphonate treatment in patients with advanced breast cancer primarily as a result of a reduction in deaths associated with skeletal complications. However, despite a significant reduction in bone metastases, a beneficial effect on visceral metastases and survival has not been observed in a large, double-blind, placebo-controlled study with clodronate in women with primary breast cancer. [66]

However, this does not mean that certain subgroups of patients might derive a survival benefit from bisphosphonate therapy. Indeed, an increased survival in women with bone micrometastases at first diagnosis has recently been reported from a nonblind, controlled study with clodronate in which the reduction in visceral metastases was similar to that observed in bone metastases.^[67] In addition, an increased median survival of 8 months was observed in women aged 50 years of age or less in the trial of pamidronate reported by Theriault and colleagues.[16] As the authors quite rightly acknowledge, this may be overstated as it represents a univariate post hoc subgroup analysis and there was no overall effect on survival. The mechanism by which pamidronate may confer a survival advantage in younger women is unclear and draws no speculation from the authors. [16,61] In addition, there is no comment on the effects on

survival in older patients in whom one might expect to see a potentially detrimental effect of pamidronate given the overall similar survival in the 2 treatment groups. Further multivariate analyses are required to adjust for any other prognostic variables which might have influenced these observations.

Soft tissue disease is not a concern in the majority of patients with myeloma and several studies have suggested that inhibition of skeletal disease may be associated with improved survival in certain subgroups of patients. For example, there was no difference in overall survival between the clodronate and placebo treated patients in the VIth MRC Trial but in patients without vertebral fracture at entry, clodronate was associated with increased survival (median survival 1362 vs 1094 days, p < 0.05).^[6] Intermittent pamidronate has been associated with improved survival of similar magnitude in patients receiving second-line chemotherapy.[10] Finally, in a prospective, nonblind, controlled study of 341 patients, treatment with clodronate from diagnosis in patients with stage I to III myeloma was associated with a longer time to radiographic progression (14.6 vs 11.2 months) and a significant survival advantage (median survival 46 vs 36 months, p < 0.009). [68] The nonparallel design of the latter study hinders the conclusion that the effect was entirely due to clodronate, but it is important to note that the same chemotherapy regimen was used throughout the period of study.

It is important to remember that the survival advantages of bisphosphonates have only been apparent in subgroup analyses and ideally require confirmation in appropriately designed clinical trials.

5. Costs of Long Term Bisphosphonate Therapy in Malignancy

Long term bisphosphonate therapy in malignancy is commonly regarded as relatively expensive. A total of 4 economic studies have been published, 3 of which have addressed the use of oral clodronate, [50,69,70] and another the use of intrave-

nous pamidronate. [71] Again, comparisons between studies are hindered by differences in the measurement of study outcomes and the use of multiple outcomes prevents attempts at comparative cost-effectiveness analyses. Furthermore, most studies have not collected information on quality of life to allow derivation of costs per quality-adjusted life year (OALY).

The use of clodronate in the Finnish Myeloma Study^[8] was not found to significantly increase treatment costs in an analysis published by Laakso and colleagues.^[70] They noted that the benefits of clodronate on the skeleton (a 50% reduction in patients with progressive osteolysis) were associated with a nonsignificant 12% reduction in hospital costs due to a lower requirement for hospitalisation. The concomitant use of clodronate was associated with a 22% increase in overall costs of treatment [278 vs 227 Fmk (Finnish markka) daily].

A more robust analysis of the costs of treatment with clodronate in myeloma was undertaken more recently^[50] using data derived from the MRC VIth Myeloma Trial.^[6] Using a state-transition model for the first 4 years of the study and resource utilisation data from trial investigators, the authors estimated the mean costs of each transition state and each skeletal complication. Clodronate was found to reduce the mean costs of skeletal complications by 50% from £2860 to £1376 over the 4 years of treatment. The costs of clodronate itself increased the overall management costs by £3377 (from £19 557 to £22 934), an increase of 17%. This estimate was shown to be robust (£2605 to £4150) [1997] by sensitivity analysis.^[50] It should be borne in mind that the additional cost does not take into account any additional benefits over and above a reduction in the costs of skeletal complications, most notably any gains in quality of life.

In an analysis of hospital costs associated with osteolytic metastases, Biermann and colleagues^[69] suggested that significant savings could be made if clodronate reduced the incidence of skeletal complications by at least 20%. The studies included in this review suggests that such a reduction in hypercalcaemia, bone pain and pathological frac-

tures is realistically achieved during bisphosphonate therapy. However, in a recent cost-effectiveness analysis of pamidronate usage in metastatic breast cancer, the authors concluded that the treatment is associated with high incremental costs per adverse event avoided.[71] This analysis was based on information on event rates and efficacy of pamidronate derived from the studies of Hortobagyi et al.[14,15] and Theriault et al.[16] with a number of well documented assumptions being used in the model. The resulting cost-effectiveness ratios were \$108 200 and \$305 300 (1998 \$US) per QALY in women treated with chemotherapy or hormonal therapy, respectively. The costs of pamidronate and costs associated with pathological fractures that were asymptomatic or treated conservatively were the major cost drivers in the model. A reduction in drug costs by 38% would have resulted in a significant reduction in skeletal events at no extra cost (cost equivalence) and the authors proposed a number of mechanisms by which this might be achieved.^[71] The suggestions that a dose reduction or an increase in treatment intervals could be beneficial are difficult to recommend given the available data. However, it should be noted that half of the cost reduction could be achieved if the need for an intravenous infusion could be avoided altogether.

Hospitalisation is the major cost driver in the management of patients with multiple myeloma, accounting for 32% of the total cost over the first 4 years after diagnosis. [50] In addition, outpatient and day-ward attendances accounted for a further 28% of the overall cost of managing patients, whereas chemotherapy accounted for only 5%. Therefore, treatment regimens that reduce the use of secondary care resources will reduce the overall cost of managing patients with multiple myeloma even if they do not lead to cost savings.

However, the achievement of cost savings depends not only on the reduction by treatment but in the incidence of these complications in the population being treated. Thus, the failure of Bruce et al.^[50] to reproduce Biermann's^[69] finding of potential cost savings probably results from the lower

incidence of skeletal complications in the MRC VIth Myeloma Trial. [6] It is certainly clear that the numbers needed to treat (NNT) will be greater in multiple myeloma and early breast cancer than in women with established skeletal metastases in breast cancer (table IV). However, even in myeloma the NNTs compare very favourably with the use of treatments as secondary prevention in other diseases, such as stroke reductions in patients with a previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack. [72,73]

6. When to Introduce and Discontinue Therapy

None of the studies carried out to date have specifically addressed the questions of when bisphosphonate therapy should be introduced and discontinued. However, it is clear that long term bisphosphonate therapy shows benefits when given early in the course of the disease^[6,8,66-68] or at later stages in breast cancer and myeloma.^[10-14]

In myeloma, the progression of skeletal disease is probably at its most active at or around the time of diagnosis, as judged by biochemical markers of bone turnover and the high prevalence of baseline fractures. These observations combined with the apparent survival benefit in patients with a lower burden of skeletal disease at diagnosis suggest that treatment should probably be commenced as early as possible. The higher incidence of breast cancer makes the possible use of bisphosphonates in all women at the time of diagnosis problematic and perhaps undesirable. Targeting of women at high risk of skeletal metastases would seem a reasonable approach (larger tumours, axillary node in-

volvement, bone marrow involvement) but the optimal duration of therapy is not yet known. In women with advanced skeletal metastases, it might also be possible to target individuals at highest risk of skeletal complications but no studies have yet addressed this specific question. Guidelines have been proposed and, while they appear sensible, it is important to note that they have not been validated.^[74]

The decision of if and when to stop treatment is also difficult. It is important to remember that myeloma and metastatic breast cancer are presently incurable diseases and osteolysis will continue throughout their course. The speed of offset of the action of the bisphosphonates is unknown but is likely to be greater in malignancy than in other diseases associated with lower rates of bone turnover. Two double-blind, controlled studies in patients with breast cancer have suggested that the risk of skeletal disease increases within a few months after stopping bisphosphonate treatment.[65,66] A third controlled but nonblind study suggests a more prolonged effect.^[67] At present it would seem reasonable to continue treatment with bisphosphonates indefinitely.

There has been some concern about resistance developing to bisphosphonates in the later stages of malignant disease but there is little or no evidence that this is a clinically relevant problem. An increased incidence of skeletal events has been noted in only a few studies. For example, in patients with myeloma receiving intermittent pamidronate the incidence of fracture was similar or slightly higher than in those receiving placebo during the later stage of treatment and contrasted with

Table IV. Estimates of numbers needed to treat (NNT) for 1 year to prevent 1 skeletal complication (hypercalcaemia, vertebral or nonvertebral fracture). The risk is computed as the mean event rate per 100 patient-years, weighted by study size from table II. The relative risk (RR) during treatment with a bisphosphonate is derived from table III. Numbers in parentheses represent the NNT if the risk of event was 50% higher or 50% lower than estimated (or, alternatively, if the reduction in risk was 50% greater or 50% lower)

Disease	Hypercalcaemia			Vertebral fracture			Nonvertebral fracture		
	risk	RR	NNT	risk	RR	NNT	risk	RR	NNT
Myeloma	9	0.63	30 (20-60)	36	0.63	8 (5-15)	10	0.68	31 (21-63)
Breast cancer									
soft tissue metastases only	12	0.61	21 (14-43)	61	0.78	7 (5-15)	6	0.25	22 (15-44)
bone metastases	20	0.37	8 (5-16)	86	0.70	4 (3-8)	81	0.72	4 (3-8)

a marked reduction during earlier cycles of treatment. [10,11] The reasons for this are not clear but are more likely to represent either an insufficient dose or frequency in patients with advancing disease rather than resistance to treatment. The possibility that more frequent exposure may prevent this waning of effect is supported by the observation that there did not appear to be a reduction in the efficacy of oral clodronate, administered daily, in the MRC VIth Myeloma Trial. [6] A remote possibility is that long term pamidronate, like etidronate, may impair mineralisation of bone and this might mask the benefit accruing from inhibition of bone resorption. [7,75]

It is important to remember that the occurrence of complications is reduced but not totally prevented by bisphosphonates. The onset of a complication in a treated patient should therefore be regarded as an indication to consider more aggressive bisphosphonate therapy rather than to deem it a treatment failure and to discontinue therapy. The use of biochemical markers of bone resorption to monitor osteolysis and adequacy of response to bisphosphonates is undergoing evaluation and may improve clinical decision-making. [54,76,77]

7. Dose, Safety and Tolerability

In contrast with long term etidronate, mineralisation defects are rare during treatment with pamidronate and have not been observed with clodronate therapy in breast cancer and myeloma.^[36,78-81] Furthermore, fractures heal normally during drug administration.^[64,82]

The inhibition of bone resorption by pamidronate and clodronate consistently lowers serum calcium values but symptomatic hypocalcaemia is rare. The concomitant use of other specific inhibitors of bone resorption [e.g. other bisphosphonates, calcitonin and plicamycin (mithramycin)] has shown more rapid rather than more profound responses in patients with hypercalcaemia.^[83]

Despite concerns that intravenous bisphosphonates may impair renal function when given by bolus injection, [84] no systematic change in renal function has been observed during intravenous pami-

dronate or after oral treatment with clodronate as judged by sequential measurements of serum creatinine levels. Clodronate, pamidronate and alendronate have been associated with transient rises in hepatic transaminases but the increases in alanine amino transferase (ALT) and aspartate amino transferase (AST) are not marked and rarely exceed twice the laboratory reference range.^[85]

Oral administration of pamidronate is associated with a higher incidence of upper gastrointestinal adverse events. [9,86] Similar events have been reported with alendronate, another aminobisphosphonate. [87] The majority of controlled prevention studies have therefore used either intermittent intravenous infusions of pamidronate, or oral clodronate given daily.

7.1 Pamidronate

Pamidronate is a more potent inhibitor of bone resorption than clodronate and studies suggest that the duration of the effect after intravenous therapy in hypercalcaemia is longer with pamidronate. [88] Many clinical studies indicate that it is rapidly effective in suppressing bone turnover. The usual dose of pamidronate has been 90mg given as a single dose intravenously at 3- to 4-week intervals, a dose that has largely derived from studies of the median duration of action in hypercalcaemia. Some uncertainty remains about the optimal dose and frequency of administration, [89] but the 90mg dose has shown significant beneficial effects in reducing and/or delaying skeletal morbidity in controlled studies. [10,11,13,14]

A potential advantage of intravenous pamidronate is enhanced compliance with treatment but this has not been formally documented. A 4-weekly cycle may coincide with visits to hospital for chemotherapy and this route of administration is therefore attractive. However, for long term treatment the necessity for intravenous infusion may be costly and inconvenient.

Unwanted effects of pamidronate include transient fever, bone pain, episcleritis, iritis and thrombophlebitis at the infusion site. [90,91] It does not readily impair the mineralisation of bone and has

not shown adverse effects on bone formation during oral use in myeloma.[92] However, osteomalacia has been reported after multiple high dose intravenous therapy in Paget's disease of bone. [75] The use of pamidronate and other aminobisphosphonates is associated with a transient leucopenia and a rise in body temperature, chills, myalgia and malaise during the early phase of treatment.[93-96] Lymphopenia occurs more consistently than fever and is evident by 24 hours, followed later by a fall in neutrophil counts. The effect is usually transient and the clinical significance of decreases in subpopulations of circulating lymphocytes (natural killer cells, T cells, and CD4+ and CD8+ T cell subsets) is not clear. It is thought to represent an acute phase reaction and is associated with the expected changes in serum zinc levels and in acute phase proteins. [93,94] Finally, there may be a greater degree of bone marrow suppression in patients with myeloma receiving long term intravenous pamidronate with more frequent development or worsening of anaemia.[10]

7.2 Clodronate

The largest, controlled studies with clodronate in preventing skeletal complications in malignancy have used 1600 to 2400 mg/day orally. Like pamidronate, the optimal dose is not well established but a 4-week dose response study has been undertaken in osteolysis of malignancy. In this doubleblind, placebo-controlled study, a daily dose of clodronate 1600mg decreased urinary hydroxyproline and calcium creatinine ratio significantly, whereas a less complete response was observed with a dose of 400 mg/day. [97] A larger dose (3200 mg/day) had no added effect over the 1600mg dose. Persistence of inhibition of bone resorption with longer exposure has been shown directly by histological assessment after 6 months treatment with clodronate 1600 mg/day in women with recurrent breast cancer.[81]

All bisphosphonates are poorly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and this has been cited as a reason to avoid their use in malignancy.^[53] However, this conclusion is countered by a large body of evidence demonstrating efficacy of oral bisphosphonates in tumour-induced osteolysis and other metabolic bone diseases including Paget's disease of bone and osteoporosis (postmenopausal and corticosteroid-induced). [51,52,98-100] In one study in 24 healthy volunteers, intestinal absorption of clodronate was 2.36% and generally lies between 1 to 3% of the administered dose. [101,102] This is approximately 3-fold higher than the aminobisphosphonates such as alendronate. [103]

The time to reach peak serum concentration is approximately 0.5 hours, suggesting an upper gastrointestinal site of absorption and a post-dose interval of 30 to 60 minutes is recommended before consuming anything other than water. It should be noted that the rate of absorption and bioavailability is reduced to one-third when clodronate is taken half an hour after a fat-loaded meal. This effect may even persist up to 2 hours after a meal, [104] so that a single daily dose before breakfast appears the most appropriate regimen. Despite variable intestinal absorption between and within individuals, the variability in integrated urinary excretion of clodronate falls progressively over time with repeated doses of clodronate. [105] This suggests that despite low oral bioavailability, the exposure to clodronate during long term treatment is relatively constant.

As expected with an orally administered bisphosphonate, the incidence of lower gastrointestinal adverse effects is higher, with diarrhoea being reported significantly more frequently during clodronate treatment than placebo. The frequency of diarrhoea appears to be highest in the early months of treatment and is usually of mild degree with little or no impact on patients wishing to discontinue treatment. [6,38] Unlike oral pamidronate and alendronate, the frequency of upper gastrointestinal adverse effects is not increased during therapy with clodronate[38,106] and, in particular, there appears to be no increase in the frequency of oesophagitis.^[9,87] These observations have led to the clinical use of doses of clodronate taken during the night when patients awaken for

other reasons, a suggestion that may improve compliance but has not been formally tested.

No idiosyncratic or systematic effect has been found in haemoglobin, white blood cell count or platelets during treatment with clodronate.

8. The Future: Prevention of Skeletal Metastases

The prevention of skeletal metastases is probably the ultimate goal of bone-active therapies. Increasing evidence from animal studies suggests that bisphosphonates administered shortly before or concurrently with the injection of tumour cells can reduce the number and extent of skeletal metastases.^[62,63] In women with breast cancer and skeletal metastases, an apparent effect of clodronate to reduce further skeletal metastases was observed by Elomaa and colleagues^[64,65] during treatment over a 1-year period and the effect appeared to wane during a further year of follow-up off treatment. This small, double-blind, placebocontrolled study was of insufficient size (a total of 34 patients) to exclude statistical error or biases resulting from patient selection. In addition, the study involved women with widespread skeletal metastases which complicates the interpretation of isotope bone scans and radiographs, particularly in women receiving systemic therapies and bone active agents. For this reason, studies examining the incidence of metastases in women without evidence of skeletal involvement are preferable.

In a study of 133 women with soft tissue or visceral recurrence of breast cancer in whom there was no apparent scintigraphic or radiographic evidence of skeletal disease at study entry, clodronate 1600 mg/day was found to significantly reduce the number of detectable skeletal metastases by approximately 50%. [13] There was no significant reduction in the number of patients developing metastases but the study was of insufficient power to detect such an effect. Nevertheless, clodronate appeared to provide a degree of skeletal protection by inhibiting the progression of existing micrometastases and/or preventing the seeding of new metastases to bone.

Two recent nonblind, controlled studies have given conflicting results. In the study of Saarto and colleagues,[106] 299 women with primary breast cancer and nodal involvement were randomised to receive clodronate 1600 mg/day for 3 years (n = 149) or no bisphosphonate treatment (control group, n = 150). All patients received adjuvant therapy: premenopausal CMF (cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, fluorouracil) chemotherapy and postmenopausal antiestrogens with a minimum follow-up time of 5 years. Bone metastases were detected in 39 (26%) patients in the clodronate group and in 27 (18%) in the controls (p = 0.09). The development of nonskeletal metastases (visceral and local) was significantly higher in the clodronate group at 67 (45%) compared with the controls at 41 (27%) [p = 0.001]. The overall survival and disease-free survival were significantly lower in the clodronate group compared with the controls.

A contrasting effect was observed in the other prospective, randomised, nonblind study of clodronate.^[67] The presence of marrow micrometastases at the time of diagnosis was the main inclusion criteria for this study and a total of 302 women with newly diagnosed breast cancer were recruited. All patients had undergone iliac crest bone marrow aspiration at baseline and were deemed to be at high risk of skeletal metastases because of the presence of breast cancer cells detected by an immunocytological marker. In addition to systemic therapy, 157 patients were randomised to receive treatment with clodronate 1600 mg/day with treatment lasting for 2 years and an additional followup for 1 year. 145 women didn't receive clodronate and were followed as controls. Treatment with clodronate was associated with a 55% reduction in the incidence of distant metastases (bone or visceral) [13 vs 29%, p < 0.001]. Bone metastases were observed in only 8% of clodronate-treated patients compared with 17% of controls, representing a reduction of 53% (p = 0.003). Intriguingly, treatment with clodronate was also associated with a reduction in visceral metastases (8 vs 19%, p = 0.003) and a significantly better survival with only 6 patients (4%) having died compared with 22 patients (15%) in the control group (p = 0.001). It is important to note that essentially all of the reduction in metastases occurred within the first 12 to 14 months and the incidence thereafter was similar in the treated patients and controls. In addition, there appears to be little or no offset of action suggesting that the early effect persists for at least 5 years, more consistent with a prevention of metastases than a simple prolongation of the metastases-free interval.

The results from these 2 studies are difficult to reconcile, but the nonblind nature of the studies needs to be borne in mind. Furthermore, at least in the study of women with node positive breast cancer, there is evidence of a chance mismatch of the 2 study groups at baseline with the placebo group having a significantly greater proportion of patients with progesterone-receptor positive tumours and a similar trend for oestrogen-receptor positivity. These discrepancies could certainly influence differences in tumour-responsivity between the treatment groups in favour of the placebo arm.

However, it is perhaps of most relevance that a much larger prospective, double-blind, placebocontrolled study has also examined the issue of prevention of bone metastases.[66] Almost 1100 women with primary operable breast cancer and no evidence of distant metastases were randomised in a double-blind study to receive 2 years of treatment with oral clodronate 1600 mg/day or an identical placebo. [66] Study treatment could commence within 6 months of primary diagnosis and patients are being followed for at least 5 years. The effect of clodronate to reduce treatment-induced bone loss in a subgroup of patients with repeated bone density measurements over 2 years has recently been published.^[38] An interim analysis has shown a 33% reduction in the incidence of bone metastases in clodronate-treated patients [Hazard ratio 0.67, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.43 to 1.06] with the effect being most marked over the treatment period (Hazard ratio 0.51, 95% CI: 0.30 to 0.88). In contrast with the nonblind study of Diel et al., [67] the relapse rate for non-osseous metastases was the same in clodronate and placebo treated patients (Hazard ratio 0.93, 95% CI: 0.0.69 to 1.24). There was a nonsignificant trend for improved survival in clodronate-treated women (69 *vs* 80 deaths) at the cut-off date for the interim analysis.^[38]

The results of this double-blind study suggest that clodronate can reduce the incidence of skeletal metastases in women with primary breast cancer with no adverse effect on visceral metastases. Further studies are required to determine the optimal duration of treatment and how to best target the treatment to women at highest risk of metastases.

9. Conclusion

The rationale for the use of bisphosphonates in tumour-induced osteolysis is well established.^[79] The evidence to date supports the view that although systemic chemotherapy is effective in reducing bone resorption, bone destruction continues in myeloma and breast cancer so that supplementary bone protection should be considered. Long term treatment with clodronate or pamidronate has been shown to modify the progression of skeletal disease. Despite the reservations of some authors, the efficacies of oral and intravenous bisphosphonates seem similar in breast cancer and myeloma.^[53] The NNTs, particularly in metastatic breast cancer, compare very favourably with the use of treatments as secondary prevention in other diseases.

Further research is required to determine if we can better identify subgroups of patients who will derive particular benefit, or perhaps not benefit at all, from bisphosphonate therapy. The use of biochemical markers of bone resorption and formation to evaluate the risk of skeletal disease and its response to treatment also requires further study.

References

- Taube T, Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, et al. Histomorphometric evidence for osteoclast mediated bone resorption in metastatic breast cancer. Bone 1994; 15: 161-6
- Croucher PI, Apperley JF. Bone disease in multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol 1998; 103: 902-10
- Fleisch H. Bisphosphonates: mechanisms of action. Endocr Rev 1998; 19: 80-100

- Fleisch H. From polyphosphates to bisphosphonates and their role in bone and calcium metabolism. Prog Mol Subcell Biol 1999; 23: 197-216
- Cancer statistics registrations 1992. Office for National Statistics Series MB1 No. 25. London: The Stationery Office, 1998
- McCloskey EV, MacLennan ICM, Drayson M, et al. A randomised trial of the effect of clodronate on skeletal morbidity in myelomatosis. Br J Haematol 1998; 100: 317-25
- Belch AR, Bergsagel DE, Wilson K, et al. Effect of daily etidronate on the osteolysis of multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol 1991; 9: 1397-402
- Lahtinen R, Laakso M, Palva I, et al., for the Finnish Leukaemia Group. Randomised placebo controlled multicentre trial of clodraonte in multiple myeloma. Lancet 1992; 340: 1049-52
- Brincker H, Westin J, Abildgaard N, et al., for the Danish-Swedish Co-Operative Study Group. Failure of oral pamidronate to reduce skeletal morbidity in multiple myeloma: a double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Br J Haematol 1998; 101: 280-6
- Berenson JR, Lichtenstein A, Porter L, et al., for the Myeloma Aredia Study Group. Long-term pamidronate treatment of advanced multiple myeloma patients reduces skeletal events. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 593-602
- Berenson JR, Lichtenstein A, Porter L, et al., for the Myeloma Aredia Study Group. Efficacy of pamidronate in reducing skeletal events in patients with advanced multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med 1996; 334: 488-93
- Paterson A, Powles T, Kanis J, et al. Double-blind controlled trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases from breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 1993; 11: 59-65
- Kanis JA, Powles T, Paterson AHG, et al. Clodronate decreases the frequency of skeletal metastases in women with breast cancer. Bone 1996; 19: 663-7
- Hortobagyi GN, Theriault RL, Porter L, et al. Efficacy of pamidronate in reducing skeletal complications in patients with breast cancer and lytic bone metastases. Protocol 19 Aredia Breast Cancer Study Group. N Engl J Med 1996; 335: 1785-91
- Hortobagyi G, Theriault RL, Lipton A, et al. Long-term prevention of skeletal complications of metastatic breast cancer with pamidronate. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16: 2038-44
- Theriault RL, Lipton A, Hortobagyi GN, et al. Pamidronate reduces skeletal morbidity in women with advanced breast cancer and lytic bone lesions: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Protocol 18 Aredia Breast Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 846-54
- 17. Hultborn R, Gundesen S, Ryden S, et al. Efficacy of pamidronate in breast cancer with bone metastases: a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter study. Anticancer Res 1999; 19: 3383-92
- Kimura S, Adehi I, Yamaguehi K, et al. Stimulation of calcium reabsorption observed in advanced breast cancer in patients with hypercalcemia and multiple bone metastases. Jpn J Cancer Res (Gann) 1985; 76: 308-14
- Valentin-Opran A, Charhon SA, Meunier PJ, et al. Quantitative histology of myeloma-induced bone changes. Br J Haematol 1982; 52: 601-10
- Delmas PD, Charhon S, Chapuy MC, et al. Long-term effects of dichloromethylene diphosphonate (Cl₂MDP) on skeletal lesions in multiple myeloma. Metab Bone Dis Relat Res 1982; 4: 163-8
- Taube T, Beneton MNC, McCloskey EV, et al. Abnormal bone remodelling in patients with myelomatosis and normal bio-

- chemical indices of bone resorption. Eur J Haematology 1993: 49: 192-8
- Garrett IR, Durie BGM, Nedwin GE, et al. Production of lymphotoxin, a bone resorbing cytokine, by cultured human myeloma cells. N Engl J Med 1987; 317: 526-32
- Kawano M, Yamamoto I, Iwato K. Interleukin-1 beta rather than lymphotoxin as a major bone resorbing activity in human multiple myeloma. Blood 1989; 73: 1646-9
- 24. Garrett IR, Black KS, Mundy GR. Interactions between inter-leukin-6 and interleukin-1 in osteoclastic bone resorption in neonatal mouse calvaria. Calcif Tissue Int 1990; 46 Suppl. 2: \$140-\$149
- Klein B, Zhang XG, Jourdan M, et al. Interleukin-6 is the central tumor growth factor in vitro and in vivo in multiple myeloma. Eur Cytokine Netw 1990; 1: 193-201
- Russell RG. Cellular regulatory mechanisms that may underlie the effects of corticosteroids on bone. Br J Rheumatol 1993; 32 Suppl. 2: 6-10
- 27. Ishikawa H, Tanaka H, Iwato K, et al. Effect of glucocorticoids on the biologic activities of myeloma cells: inhibition of interleukin-1 beta osteoclast activating factor-induced bone resorption. Blood 1990; 75: 715-20
- Strumpf M, Kowalski MA, Mundy GR. Effects of glucocorticoids on osteoclast-activating factor. J Lab Clin Med 1978; 92: 772-8
- Evans CE, Galasko CSB, Ward C. Does myeloma secrete an osteoblast inhibiting factor? J Bone Joint Surg Br 1989; 71B: 288-90
- Evans CE, Ward C, Rathour L, et al. Myeloma affects both the growth and function of human osteoblast-like cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 1992; 10: 33-8
- Lacroix M, Siwek B, Body JJ. Effects of secretory products of breast cancer cells on osteoblast-like cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1996; 38; 209-16
- Siwek B, Lacroix M, dePollak C, et al. Secretory products of breast cancer cells affect human osteoblastic cells: partial characterisation of active factors. J Bone Miner Res 1997; 12: 552-60
- Kanis JA, McCloskey EV, Powles T, et al. A high incidence of vertebral fracture in women with breast cancer. Br J Cancer 1999; 79: 1179-81
- Utz JP, Melton LJ, Kan SH, et al. Risk of osteoporotic fractures in women with breast cancer: a population band cohort study. J Chronic Dis 1987; 40: 105-13
- Bruning P, Pit M, de Jong-Bakker M, et al. Bone mineral density after adjuvant chemotherapy for premenopausal breast cancer. Br J Cancer 1990; 61: 308-10
- 36. Delmas P, Balena R, Confravreux E, et al. Bisphosphonate risedronate prevents bone loss in women with artificial menopause due to chemotherapy of breast cancer: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15: 955-62
- Powles TJ, Hickish T, Kanis JA, et al. Effect of tamoxifen on bone mineral density measured by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry in healthy premenopausal and postmenopausal women. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14: 78-84
- Powles TJ, McCloskey EV, Paterson AHG, et al. Oral clodronate and reduction in loss of bone mineral density in women with operable primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90 (9): 704-8
- Saarto T, Blomqvist C, Valimaki M, et al. Chemical castration induced by adjuvant cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil chemotherapy causes rapid bone loss that is reduced by clodronate: a randomized study in premenopausal breast cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15: 1341-7

- Pouilles J, Tremollieres F, Bonneu M, et al. Influence of early age at menopause on vertebral bone mass. J Bone Miner Res 1994; 9: 311-5
- Love R, Mazess R, Barden H, et al. Effects of tamoxifen on bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1992; 326: 852-6
- Saarto T, Blomqvist C, Valimaki M, et al. Clodronate improves bone mineral density in post-menopausal breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant antiestrogens. Br J Cancer 1997; 75: 602-5
- Kristensen B, Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, et al. Femoral fractures in postmenopausal breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant tamoxifen. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1996; 39: 321-6
- Mariette X, Bergot C, Ravaud P, et al. Evolution of bone densitometry in patients with myeloma treated with conventional or intensive therapy. Cancer 1995; 76: 1559-63
- Kanis JA, McCloskey EV. Bisphosphonates in multiple myeloma. Cancer 2000; 88 (S12): 3022-32
- Cummings SR, Melton III LJ, Felsenberg D, et al. Assessing vertebral fractures. J Bone Miner Res 1995; 10: 518-23
- McCloskey EV, Spector TD, Eyres KS, et al. The assessment of vertebral deformity: a method for use in population studies and clinical trials. Osteoporo Int 1993; 3: 138-47
- McCloskey EV, Spector T, Khan S, et al. Prevalence of vertebral deformity and concordance between definitions of fracture. In: Christiansen C, Riis B, editors. Osteoporosis proceedings 1993. Copenhagen: Osteopress APS, 1993: 62-4
- McCloskey EV, Kanis JA. The assessment of vertebral deformity. In: Genant HK, Jergas M, van Kujik C, editors. Vertebral fractures in osteoporosis. San Francisco: UCSF, 1996
- Bruce NJ, McCloskey EV, Kanis JA, et al. Economic impact of using clodronate in the management of patients with multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol 1999; 104: 358-64
- Black DM, Cummings SR, Karpf DB, et al. Randomised trial of effect of alendronate on risk of fracture in women with existing vertebral fractures. Fracture Intervention Trial Research Group. Lancet 1996; 348: 1535-41
- 52. Harris ST, Watts NB, Genant HK, et al. Effects of risedronate treatment on vertebral and nonvertebral fractures in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized controlled trial. Vertebral Efficacy With Risedronate Therapy (VERT) Study Group, JAMA 1999; 282: 1344-52
- Major PP, Lipton A, Berenson J, et al. Oral bisphosphonates: a review of clinical use in patients with bone metastases. Cancer 2000; 88: 6-14
- Vinholes JJ, Purohit OP, Abbey ME, et al. Relationships between biochemical and symptomatic response in a doubleblind randomised trial of pamidronate for metastatic bone disease. Ann Oncol 1997; 8: 1243-50
- Adami S, Salvagno G, Guarrera G, et al. Dichloromethylene diphosphonate in patients with prostatic carcinoma metastatic to the skeleton. J Urol 1985; 134: 1152-4
- Adami S, Mian M. Clodronate therapy of metastatic bone disease in patients with prostatic carcinoma. Recent Results Cancer Res 1989; 116: 67-72
- Ernst DS, Brasher P, Hagen N, et al. A randomised, controlled trial of intravenous clodronate in patients with metastatic bone disease and pain. J Pain Symptom Manag 1997; 13: 319-26
- Ernst DS, MacDonald RN, Paterson AHG, et al. A double blind cross-over trial of intravenous clondronate in metastatic bone pain. J Pain Sympt Manag 1992; 7: 4-11
- Heim ME, Clemens MR, Queisser W, et al. Prospective randomized trial of dichloromethylene bisphosphonate (clodron-

- ate) in patients with multiple myeloma requiring treatment: a multicentre study. Oncology 1995; 18: 439-48
- Ascari E, Attardo Parrinello G, Merlini G. Treatment of painful bone lesions and hypercalcaemia. Eug J Haemol 1989; 51 Suppl. 43: 135-9
- 61. Lipton A, Theriault RL, Hortobagyi GN, et al. Pamidronate prevents skeletal complications and is effective palliative treatment in women with breast carcinoma and osteolytic bone metastases: long term follow-up of two randomized, placebo-controlled trials. Cancer 2000; 88: 1082-90
- 62. Sasaki A, Boyce BF, Story B, et al. Bisphosphonate residronate reduces metastatic human breast cancer burden in bone in nude mice. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 3551-7
- Yoneda T, Sasaki A, Dunstan C, et al. Inhibition of osteolytic bone metastasis of breast cancer by combined treatment with the bisphosphonate ibandronate and tissue inhibitor of the Matrix-Metalloproteinase-2. J Clin Invest 1997; 99: 2509-17
- Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, Grohn P, et al. Long-term controlled trial with diphosphonate in patients with osteolytic bone metastases. Lancet 1983; I: 146-9
- Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, Porkka L, et al. Treatment of skeletal disease in breast cancer: a controlled clodronate trial. Bone 1987; 8 Suppl. 1: 53-6
- 66. Powles TJ, Paterson AHG, Nevantaus A, et al. Adjuvant clodronate reduces the incidence of bone metastases in patients with primary operable breast cancer [abstract]. Prog Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 1998; 17: 123a
- Diel IJ, Solomayer EF, Costa SD, et al. Reduction in new metastases in breast cancer with adjuvant clodronate treatment. N Engl J Med 1998; 339: 357-63
- Riccardi A, Ucci G, Brugnatelli S, et al. Prospective, controlled, non randomised study on prophylactic parenteral dichloremethylene bisphosphonate (clodronate) in multiple myeloma. Int J Oncol 1994; 5: 833-9
- Biermann WA, Cantor RI, Fellin FM, et al. An evaluation of the potential cost reductions resulting from the use of clodronate in the treatment of metastatic carcinoma of the breast to bone. Bone 1991; 12 Suppl. 1: S37-S42
- Laakso M, Lahtinen R, Virkkunen P, et al. Subgroup and costbenefit analysis of the Finnish multicentre trial of clodronate in multiple myeloma. Finnish Leukaemia Group. Br J Haematol 1994; 87: 725-9
- Hillner BE, Weeks JC, Desch CE, et al. Pamidronate in prevention of bone complications in metastatic breast cancer: a cost-effectiveness analysis. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18: 72-9
- Gent M, Blakely JA, Easton JD, et al. The Canadian American ticlopidine study (CATS) in thromboembolic stroke. Lancet 1989; I: 1215-20
- Diener HC, Cunha L, Forbes C, et al. European Stroke Prevention Study 2. Dipyridamole and acetylsalicylic acid in the secondary prevention of stroke. J Neurol Sci 1996; 143: 1-13
- 74. The BASO Guidelines for the Management of Metastatic Bone Disease in Breast Cancer Working Party (1999). British Association of Surgical Oncology Guidelines for the Management of Metastatic Bone Disease in the United Kingdom. Eur J Surg Oncol 1999; 25: 3-23
- Adamson BB, Gallacher SJ, Byars J, et al. Mineralisation defects with pamidronate therapy for Paget's disease. Lancet 1993; 342: 1459-60
- Elomaa I, Risteli L, Laakso M, et al. Monitoring the action of clodronate with type I collagen metabolites in multiple myeloma. Eur J Cancer 1996; 32A (7): 1166-70
- Vinholes J, Coleman R, Lacombe D, et al. Assessment of bone response to systemic therapy in an EORTC trial: preliminary

- experience with the use of collagen cross-link excretion. Br J Cancer 1999; 80: 221-8
- Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, Porkka L, et al. Diphosphonates for osteolytic metastases. Lancet 1985; I: 1155-6
- Kanis JA, McCloskey EV, Taube T, et al. Rationale for the use of bisphosphonates in bone metastases. Bone 1991; 12 Suppl. 1: S13-S18
- 80. Minaire P, Depassio J, Berard E, et al. Effects of clodronate on immobilization bone loss. Bone 1987; 8 Suppl. 1; 63-8
- Taube T, Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, et al. Comparative effects of clodronate and calcitonin on bone in metastatic breast cancer: a histomorphometric study. Eur J Cancer 1993; 29A: 1677-81
- Douglas DL, Russell RGG, Preston CJ, et al. Effect of dichloromethylene diphosphonate in Paget's disease of bone and in hyperparathyroidism or malignant disease. Lancet 1980; 1: 1043-7
- Ralston SH, Gardner MD, Dryburgh FJ, et al. Comparison of aminohydroxyprophylidene diphosphonate, mithramycin and corticosteroids/calcitonin in treatment of cancer-associated hypercalcaemia. Lancet 1985; II: 907-10
- Bounameaux HM, Schifferli J, Montani J-P, et al. Renal failure associated with intravenous diphosphonates [letter]. Lancet 1983; I: 471
- 85. Laitinen K, Taube T. Clodronate as a cause of aminotransferase elevation. Osteoporos Int 1999; 10: 120-2
- 86. vanHolten-Verzantvoort AT, Bijvoet OLM, Hermans J, et al. Reduced morbidity from skeletal metastases in breast cancer patients during long-term bisphosphonate (APD) treatment. Lancet 1987; II: 983-5
- De Groen P, Lubbe DF, Hirsch LJ, et al. Esophagitis associated with the use of alendronate. N Engl J Med 1996; 335: 1016-21
- Purohit OP, Radstone CR, Anthony C, et al. A randomised double-blind comparison of intravenous pamidronate and clodronate in the hypercalcaemia of malignancy. Br J Cancer 1995; 72: 1289-93
- Wimalawansa SJ. Optimal frequency of administration of pamidronate in patients with hypercalcaemia of malignancy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1994; 41: 591-5
- Adami S, Zamberlan N. Adverse effects of bisphosphonates: a comparative review. Drug Saf 1996; 14: 158-70
- 91. Thiebaud D, Jaeger P, Gobelet C, et al. A single infusion of the bisphosphonate AHPrBP (APD) as treatment of Paget's disease of bone. Am J Med 1988; 85: 207-12
- Abildgaard N, Rungby J, Glerup H, et al. Long-term oral pamidronate treatment inhibits osteoclastic bone resorption and bone turnover without affecting osteoblastic function in multiple myeloma. Eur J Haematol 1998; 61: 128-34
- Adami S, Bhalla AK, Dorizzi R, et al. The acute-phase response after bisphosphonate administration. Calcif Tissue Int 1987; 41: 326-31

- Bijvoet OL, Frijlink WB, Jie K, et al. APD in Paget's disease of bone: role of the mononuclear phagocyte system? Arthritis Rheum 1980; 23: 1193-204
- Mautalen CA, Casco CA, Gonzalez D, et al. Side-effects of disodium aminohydroxypropylidene diphosphonate (APD) during treatment of bone diseases. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1984; 288: 828-9
- Pecherstorfer M, Jilch R, Sauty A, et al. Effect of first treatment with aminobisphosphonates pamidronate and ibandronate on circulating lymphocyte subpopulations. J Bone Miner Res 2000; 15: 147-54
- 97. O'Rourke NP, McCloskey EV, Houghton F, et al. Double blind, placebo controlled, dose response trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 929-34
- Khan S, McCloskey EV, Houghton F, et al. Double blind placebo-controlled dose response trial of oral clodronate in patients with bone metastases. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 929-34
- Kanis JA. Pathophysiology and treatment of Paget's disease of bone. London: Martin Dunitz. 1991
- 100. McCloskey EV, Selby P, de Takats D, et al. Effects of clodronate on vertebral fracture risk in established osteoporosis - a one year interim analysis. Bone 2001; 28: 310-5
- Yakatan GL, Poynor WJ, Talbert RL, et al. Clodronate kinetics and bioavailability. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1982; 31; 402-10
- Pentikainen PJ, Elomaa I, Nurmi AK, et al. Pharmocokinetics of clodronate in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Int J Pharmacol Ther Toxicol 1989; 27: 222-8
- 103. Jeal W, Barradell LB, McTavish D. Alendronate: a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Drugs 1997; 53: 415-34
- 104. Laitinen K, Patronen A, Harju P, et al. Timing of food intake has a marked effect on the bioavailability of clodronate. Bone 2000; 27: 293-6
- 105. Castren-Kortekangas P, Loyttyniemi E, Liukko-Sipi S, et al. Pooling of clodronate urinary excretion data: a new pharmacokinetic method to study drugs with highly variable gastrointestinal absorption. J Bone Miner Res 1997; 12: 66-71
- 106. Saarto T, Blomqvist C, Virkkunen P, et al. Adjuvant clodronate treatment does not reduce the frequency of skeletal metastases in node-positive breast cancer patients: 5-year results of a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19: 10-7

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Eugene V. McCloskey, WHO Collaborating Centre for Metabolic Bone Diseases, University of Sheffield Medical School, Beech Hill Road, Sheffield S10 2RX, UK.

E-mail: e.v.mccloskey@shef.ac.uk